

The NAD(P)H Dehydrogenase Complex in Photosynthetic Organisms: Subunit Composition and Physiological Function

Toshiharu Shikanai

Graduate School of Agriculture, Kyushu University, 6-10-1 Hakozaki, Higashi-ku, Fukuoka, 812-8581, Japan Correspondence: shikanai@agr.kyushu-u.ac.jp

ABSTRACT

The chloroplast NAD(P)H dehydrogenase (NDH) complex is believed to originate from the cyanobacterial NDH-1 complex because of their similarity in structure and function. In both cyanobacteria and chloroplasts, NDH is involved in respiratory electron transport (chlororespiration in chloroplasts) and photosystem I cyclic electron transport. By modifying its subunit composition, cyanobacterial NDH also contributes to CO_2 concentration. In *Arabidopsis thaliana*, photosystem I cyclic electron transport consists of two partly redundant pathways. Although the knockout of chloroplast NDH gives only a subtle phenotype, it causes a severe defect in photosynthesis under the mutant background of *pgr5 (proton gradient regulation 5)*, in which another pathway of photosystem I cyclic electron transport is impaired. Although the characteristics of the mutant phenotype suggest that PGR5-dependent photosystem I cyclic electron transport contributes markedly to ATP synthesis during photosynthesis, chloroplast NDH may function as a safety valve to prevent the overreduction of stroma. In cyanobacterial and chloroplast NDH, we have not discovered the electron donor-binding subunits that are conserved in bacterial NDH-1. This fact implies that the NDH complex is equipped with a different electron-donor binding module in cyanobacteria and chloroplasts, and thus the identity of the electron donor to the complex is still unclear.

Keywords: Arabidopsis, chloroplast, chlororespiration, cyclic electron transport, NDH, photosystem I, photosynthesis **Abbreviations: AOX**, alternative oxidase; **cyt**, cytochrome; **Fd**, ferredoxin; **NDH**, NAD(P)H dehydrogenase; **NPQ**, non-photochemical quenching of chlorophyll fluorescence; **PSI and PSII**, photosystem I and II; **PQ**, plastoquinone; **PTOX**, plastid terminal oxidase

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	
CHLORORESPIRATION	
CHLOROPLAST NDH AS MACHINERY OF PHOTOSYSTEM I CYCLIC ELECTRON TRANSPORT	
CO2 CONCENTRATION AND PSI CYCLIC ELECTRON TRANSPORT MEDIATED BY CYANOBACTERIAL NDH	
APPLICATION OF FORWARD GENETICS TO THE CHLOROPLAST NDH COMPLEX	
STRUCTURE OF THE NDH COMPLEX	
ELECTRON DONOR TO THE NDH COMPLEX	
REGULATION OF ELECTRON TRANSPORT VIA CHLOROPLAST GENE EXPRESSION	
CONCLUDING REMARKS	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
REFERENCES	

INTRODUCTION

Respiratory electron transport through the inner membranes of mitochondria is mediated by four major protein complexes: NADH dehydrogenase (complex I), succinate dehydrogenase (complex II), the cytochrome (cyt) bc_1 complex (complex III), and cyt *c* oxidase (complex IV) (**Fig. 1**). Complex I catalyzes NADH-dependent reduction of ubiquinone and this action is coupled with proton pumping from the matrix to the inter-membrane space. In addition to electron transport through complexes III and IV (cyt pathway), which contributes to proton translocation, ubiquinone is also oxidized by alternative oxidase (AOX), which directly transfers electrons to O₂. AOX does not translocate any protons across the inner mitochondrial membranes, and it is considered to be involved in energy dissipation in the mitochondria (Umbach *et al.* 2005; Yoshida *et al.* 2006). Interestingly, proteins related to the respiratory machinery (complex I and AOX) were discovered in plastids (Matsubayashi *et al.* 1987; Carol *et al.* 1999; Wu *et al.* 1999). In higher plants, the plastid genome contains 11 genes (*ndhA-K*) encoding proteins homologous to the complex I subunits (Matsubayashi *et al.* 1987), although some exceptions have been discovered, for example, in black pine (*Pinus thunber-gii*) (Wakasugi *et al.* 1994). In chloroplasts these Ndh subunits form a protein complex, NAD(P)H dehydrogenase (NDH), the main focus of this review. The chloroplast NDH complex is more similar to the bacterial NDH (NDH-1) than to the mitochondrial complex I in the same species. In particular, cyanobacterial NDH-1 is closely related to chloroplast NDH in structure and function and is believed to be the origin of chloroplast NDH (Friedrich and Weiss 1997).

In this decade our knowledge of chloroplast NDH has improved greatly. Advances in our genetics knowledge of cyanobacteria and the higher plants tobacco (*Nicotiana tabacum*) and Arabidopsis (*Arabidopsis thaliana*) have contributed markedly to this progress. It may already not be an enigma that the plastid genome encodes the genes for the respiratory complex, as it previously had been (Shikanai and Endo 2000). However, it is also true that we still cannot an-



Fig. 1 Schematic representation of plant respiratory electron transport in inner mitochondrial membranes. Red and black arrows indicate the movements of electrons and protons, respectively. UQ, ubiquinone.

swer the fundamental question: what is the electron donor to the complex in chloroplasts? In this article, I summarize the current status of knowledge on the chloroplast and cyanobacterial NDH complexes and also what remains to be clarified.

CHLORORESPIRATION

Chlororespiration consists of respiratory electron transport in thylakoid membranes and interacts with photosynthetic electron transport via the plastoquinone (PQ) pool (Peltier and Cornac 2002). For chloroplast molecular biologists, the physiological term chlororespiration was convenient to explain the enigmatic occurrence of 11 ndh genes (ndhA-K) encoding proteins homologous to subunits of mitochondrial NADH dehydrogenase in the plastid genome. Ironically, however, chlororespiration was discovered and well characterized in the green alga, Chlamydomonas (Chlamydomonas reinhardtii), in which the chloroplast NDH complex is probably absent (Bennoun 1982). In pioneer works, chlororespiration was detected as an effect of the respiratory inhibitors KCN, CO and salicylhydroxamic acid (SHAM) on photosynthetic electron transport in Chlamydomonas (Bennoun 1982) and also in higher plants (Garab et al. 1989). On the basis of the recent accumulation of molecular information, we can draw a model of chlororespiratory electron transport in the thylakoid membranes (Fig. 2). The chloroplast NDH complex non-photochemically reduces PQ. In Chlamydomonas, type-2 NAD(P)H dehydrogenase (NDH-2) may mediate this electron transport (Peltier and Cornac 2002). NDH-2 consists of a single subunit that catalyzes NAD(P)H-dependent PO reduction, which is probably not accompanied by proton translocation across the membranes (Mus et al. 2005). NDH-2 is distinguished from the complex I-type NAD(P)H dehydrogenase that is designated as NDH-1.

PTOX (plastid terminal oxidase) was discovered in an Arabidopsis variegated mutant, *immutans* (Carol *et al.* 1999; Wu *et al.* 1999). PTOX is homologous to mitochondrial AOX and is likely to mediate electron transport from PQ to O_2 independently of proton translocation across the thylakoid membranes. PQ is non-photochemically reduced by NDH and subsequently oxidized by PTOX in the dark. This route taken by electrons implies the presence of complete respiratory electron transport in chloroplasts (**Fig. 2**). However, the variegated phenotype of *immutans* suggests the distinct function of PTOX in chloroplast development. Because phytoene accumulates in the white sectors of *immutans* leaves, PTOX is proposed to be essential for phytoene desaturation, an essential step in carotenoid biosynthesis (Josse *et al.* 2000). Phytoene desaturase requires oxidized PQ as an electron acceptor.

Even in mature chloroplasts in which PQ is oxidized by photosystem I (PSI), PTOX may function as an alternative electron sink. PTOX can theoretically make excessive electrons leak from the intersystem without generating reactive oxygen species. Because of the variegated phenotype in *immutans*, however, it is not simple to evaluate the physiological function of PTOX in the chloroplasts of its mature leaves. However, the available information does not support the idea that PTOX contributes greatly to this process of photoprotection (Joët *et al.* 2002; Rosso *et al.* 2006).

PTOX is homologous to mitochondrial AOX which is insensitive to KCN. The pioneer work indicated that chlororespiratory oxidation of PQ is sensitive to KCN and CO, as the cyt pathway in mitochondria (Garab *et al.* 1989). However, the homolog of complex IV has not yet been discovered in plastids so far. We cannot eliminate the possibility that PTOX has functional redundancy with an unknown terminal oxidase and that the phenotype can be detected only in the double mutant defective in all the PQ oxidation reactions in the dark.



Fig. 2 Schematic representation of chlororespiratory electron transport in thylakoid membranes. Electron donor to NDH is not known. It is unclear whether NDH has proton pumping activity in chloroplasts.

CHLOROPLAST NDH AS MACHINERY OF PHOTOSYSTEM I CYCLIC ELECTRON TRANSPORT

In the light, PQ reduced by the chloroplast NDH complex is oxidized by the cyt $b_6 f$ complex via PSI activity, not by PTOX (Shikanai et al. 1998). Given that the electron donor to the NDH complex is NAD(P)H or ferredoxin (Fd), the mode of electron transport is cyclic (Fig. 3). PSI cyclic electron transport was discovered in the 1950s, but the machinery involved has long been unclear (Bendall and Manasse 1995; Shikanai 2007). As discussed later, the idea that the chloroplast NDH complex mediates PSI cyclic electron transport originated from researches on cyanobacteria (Ogawa 1992; Mi et al. 1992, 1994, 1995). A plastid transformation technique established in tobacco (Svab and Maliga 1993) enabled us to test this possibility by directly disrupting the *ndh* genes encoded by the plastid genome (Burrows *et al.* 1998; Kofer *et al.* 1998; Shikanai *et al.* 1998). The knockout lines exhibit a defect in non-photochemical reduction of PQ in the dark and also a reduction in the size of electron input into PQ under far-red light illumination. These results indicate that the chloroplast NDH complex mediates PSI cyclic electron transport in the light.

Since the route taken by electrons is cyclic, PSI cyclic electron transport generates proton gradient across the thylakoid membranes (ApH) without an accumulation of reducing power. It has long been discussed whether PSI cyclic electron transport is required to balance the ATP and NADPH production ratio (Allen 2002) or for photoprotection via regulation of the lumen pH (Heber and Walker 1992). Excessive light energy is safely dissipated from photosystem II (PSII) as heat (thermal dissipation), the regulation of which is triggered by monitoring the acidification of the thylakoid lumen and detected as a qE component of NPQ (non-photochemical quenching) in chloro-phyll fluorescence (Müller *et al.* 2001). The physiological significance of PSI cyclic electron transport was discussed in detail elsewhere (Munekage et al. 2002, 2004; Munekage and Shikanai 2005; Shikanai 2007). In the ndh knockout lines, however, no phenotypes were detected, except for the minor alteration in electron transport at least under the greenhouse conditions (Burrows et al. 1998; Shikanai et al. 1998). Although the chloroplast NDH complex can mediate PSI cyclic electron transport, its contribution is too small to affect photosynthesis via ATP generation or to induce the regulatory process of photosynthesis. The chloroplast NDH complex mediates PSI cyclic electron transport, a result that was expected from research on cyanobacterial NDH, as described below. A more important discovery from the phenotype of tobacco *ndh* knockout lines may have been that the chloroplast NDH complex is dispensable under greenhouse conditions.

In higher plants, PSI cyclic electron transport consists of two partly redundant pathways, the NDH-dependent pathway and the antimycin A-sensitive pathway (Joët *et al.* 2001; Munekage *et al.* 2004). In the latter, a small thylakoid protein PGR5 is essential, although the exact function of PGR5 is unclear (Munekage *et al.* 2002). In higher plants, the main route of PSI cyclic electron transport depends on PGR5 and contributes markedly to both photosynthesis and photoprotection. Under growth chamber conditions, the Arabidopsis mutant *pgr5*, which is defective in this electron transport, can grow as well as the wild type. In contrast, double mutants lacking both pathways of PSI cyclic electron transport exhibit a severe defect in growth and are photo-damaged, even at very low light intensity of less than 50 µmol photons m⁻² sec⁻¹ (Munekage *et al.* 2004). This result clearly indicates that the NDH complex is required for survival under the *pgr5* mutant background.

In pgr5, an imbalance between linear and PSI cyclic electron transport causes over-reduction of the stroma; this can be monitored as a reduction in the level of $P700^+$ (oxidized PSI reaction center chlorophylls) (Munekage et al. 2002). This over-reduction can be detected in wild-type plants, which probably operate PGR5-dependent PSI cyclic electron transport in the field (Endo et al. 2005). This result suggests that the chloroplast NDH complex alleviates oxidative stress, even in the wild type, under certain stressed conditions. Consistently with this idea, tobacco mutants defective in the accumulation of NDH are sensitive to various environmental stresses (Endo et al. 1999; Horváth et al. 2000; Li et al. 2004; Munné-Bosch et al. 2005; Wang et al. 2006). However, it is also true that the phenotype is subtle even under the stress conditions and there is a debate whether chloroplast NDH is really involved in the stress responses (Barth and Krause 2002). Plants have redundant mechanisms to protect their photosynthetic machinery from oxidative stress, and this redundancy may be essential for adaptation to fluctuating environmental conditions.

In light of the mutant phenotype, the chloroplast NDH complex is likely to be a safety valve to prevent the overreduction of stroma. We are still not sure of the exact mechanism by which the chloroplast NDH complex alleviates stress. It is unlikely that the mechanism is via NPQ, since the double mutant of *npq4 pgr5* is similar to the single mutant of *pgr5*, in contrast to the severe phenotype observed in *crr2 pgr5* (Munekage *et al.* 2004). Whereas *crr2* is defec-



Fig. 3 Schematic representation of PSI cyclic electron transport in higher plants. Electron donor to NDH is not known. Direct electron acceptor in the PGR5-dependent pathway is unclear (Okegawa *et al.* 2005). Antimycin A (AA) inhibits the PGR5-dependent PSI cyclic electron transport. Exact location of PGR5 is not determined. PC, plastocyanin.

tive in the chloroplast NDH complex (Hashimoto *et al.* 2003), *npq4* is defective in PsbS, a pH sensor that is essential for qE induction (Li *et al.* 2000). From the available information, the simplest working model is that the NDH complex mediates PSI cyclic electron transport, which is essential to alleviate stromal over-reduction by modifying the ratio of ATP/NADPH production. Even though the rate of electron transport mediated by NDH is small compared with PGR5-dependent PSI cyclic electron transport or linear electron transport, this fine-tuning may be essential to prevent severe imbalance. This topic needs future research.

CO₂ CONCENTRATION AND PSI CYCLIC ELECTRON TRANSPORT MEDIATED BY CYANOBACTERIAL NDH

The M55 mutant of *Synechocystis* PCC6803 was isolated based on its phenotype requiring high CO₂ levels for growth (Ogawa 1991). It was shown later that CO₂ uptake was more strongly affected than HCO₃-uptake in M55 (Ohkawa *et al.* 2000). M55 is defective in *ndhB* encoding a subunit of the NDH complex (Ogawa 1991). This discovery was followed by extensive physiological examinations, which demonstrated the impairment of respiration and PSI cyclic electron transport in M55 (Mi *et al.* 1992, 1994, 1995). These results suggest that cyanobacterial NDH mediates both respiratory and PSI cyclic electron transports. Because PSI cyclic electron transport produces ATP, in pioneer works the NDH complex was hypothesized to energize CO₂ concentrating machinery in *Synechocystis* PCC6803.

In Synechocystis PCC6803, most of the genes encoding the subunits of the NDH complex are present as single copies, except for *ndhD* and *ndhF*, which form small gene families consisting of six and three genes, respectively. Members of the *ndhD* family are divided into three pairs on the basis of their similarity (Ohkawa et al. 2000). The $\Delta ndhD1/ndhD2$ double mutant cannot grow under photoheterotrophic conditions, indicating that two genes are essential for respiratory electron transport. In contrast, the $\Delta ndh3/ndh4$ mutant requires high CO₂ levels for growth. NdhD3 is involved in the inducible high-affinity CO₂ uptake system, as are NdhF3, CupA and Sll1735 (Shibata et al. 2001; Maeda et al. 2002). In contrast, a system depending on NdhD4, ndhF4, and CupB has lower affinity for CO_2 and operates constitutively. These results, which are based on genetics, indicate that the NDH complex is involved in the distinct functions of respiratory electron transport, inducible high-affinity CO2 uptake, and constitutive low-affinity CO₂ uptake by modifying its subunit composition. Because NdhB is shared by all the complexes, the phenotype of M55 is ascribed to a mixture of defects in several functions mediated by distinct complexes. It became necessary to reconsider the simple relationship between PSI cyclic electron transport and CO₂ uptake. Interestingly, the similar story of CO₂ concentration and the NDH complex revived in C₄ plants. The NDH complex is specifically expressed in bundle sheath cells and may energize the C4 system (Kubicki et al. 1996; Takabayashi et al. 2006).

Cyanobacterial NDH is involved in multiple functions by modifying its subunit composition. This model, established by genetics, was shown to be consistent with direct analysis of the subunit composition by biochemistry (Zhang *et al.* 2004). The NDH-1L (large) complex consists of at least 15 subunits that were clarified so far and includes NdhD1 and NdhD2 subunits. The NDH-1M (medium size) complex has a subunit composition similar to that of the NDH-1L complex, but it lacks NdhD1 and NdhD2. The NDH-1M complex associates with two small complexes, NDH-1S₁ and NDH-1S₂ (Zhang *et al.* 2005). The NDH-1S₁ complex consists of NdhD3, NdhF3, CupA, and Sll1735. Accumulation of NDH-1M and NDH-1S complexes is induced in response to low CO₂ levels (Zhang *et al.* 2004).

One question remaining in the study of cyanobacterial NDH is which complex mediates PSI cyclic electron transport. The involvement of NDH in PSI cyclic electron transport was extensively studied in M55, in which accumulation of both NDH-1L and NDH-1M is impaired (Mi et al. 1992, 1994, 1995). Although the half-time of $P700^+$ reduction in the dark after far-red light illumination, by which electron input to the PQ pool can be estimated, was significantly slower in M55 than the wild type, it was not affected in AndhD1/D2 (Zhang et al. 2004). This result suggests that the NDH-1MS complex, rather than the NDH-1L complex, mediates PSI cyclic electron transport in Synechocystis PCC680. This is inconsistent with the fact that P700 is oxidized more under low-intensity far-red light in $\Delta ndhD1/D2$, which is similar to the phenotype of $M\bar{5}5$, suggesting that NDH-1L mediates both PSI cyclic electron transport and respiratory electron transport (Ohkawa et al. 2000). Because the measuring methods were different between the two experiments, the results cannot be directly compared. NDH-dependent PSI cyclic electron transport may consist of multiple pathways in cyanobacteria.

APPLICATION OF FORWARD GENETICS TO THE CHLOROPLAST NDH COMPLEX

Since plastid transformation is not routinely available in Arabidopsis, the use of forward genetics was essential to identify the Arabidopsis mutants specifically defective in NDH activity. Characterization of the double mutants defective in both pathways of PSI cyclic electron transport required Arabidopsis mutants (Munekage et al. 2004). We focused on the subtle change in chlorophyll fluorescence after actinic light illumination in the ndhB knockout tobacco (Shikanai et al. 1998), and we modified the technique of chlorophyll fluorescence imaging (Shikanai et al. 1999; Hashimoto et al. 2003). Under a CCD camera, NDH activity is visualized as an image of chlorophyll fluorescence, facilitating the isolation of *chlororespiratory* (crr) mutants defective in NDH activity. At present, we have identified 20 loci that are required for NDH activity in Arabidopsis. Our collection still does not contain mutants for *ndhM* and ndhO, which were discovered by a proteomics approach (Remeau et al. 2005), suggesting that more genes are related to the crr phenotype. From the mutants we have cloned 12 genes so far: five encode proteins required for the expression of plastid *ndh* genes and another five for Ndh subunits or candidates. One is probably required for assembly of the complex and one has an unknown function.

The mutant pool can be utilized for two future prospects of the research on chloroplast NDH. Mutants defective in the nuclear-encoded subunits are detected on the basis of their crr mutant phenotypes, and they may provide clues to identification of the subunits involved in electron donor binding, a piece of information that is still missing from our model (see below). Eleven subunits of the NDH complex are encoded in the plastid genome, and mutants defective in the expression of these ndh genes have also been isolated (Hashimoto et al. 2003; Yamazaki et al. 2004; Kotera et al. 2005). Although the function of these genes is not directly related to NDH, it may be involved in the regulation of plastid *ndh* gene expression to cope with environmental changes. Although many researches are involved in the regulation of plastid gene expression, the link to the regulation of photosynthesis has been poorly understood and the 11 plastid ndh genes may be the best targets for this purpose. I would like to discuss the current status of two topics, subunit composition of the NDH complex and the regulation of the *ndh* gene expression, further in detail in the following sections.

STRUCTURE OF THE NDH COMPLEX

The plastid genome of higher plants contains 11 genes encoding subunits of the NDH complex (NdhA-K). In *Escherichia coli*, the NDH-1 complex consists of a minimum set

Arabidopsis plastid	Synechocystis PCC6803	E. coli	Bovine mitochondria	Cofactors, etc
NdhA	NdhA	NuoH	ND1	quinone binding
NdhB	NdhB	NuoN	ND2	
NdhC	NdhC	NuoA	ND3	
NdhD	NdhD1-6	NuoM	ND4	
NdhE	NdhE	NuoK	ND4L	
NdhF	NdhF1-3	NuoL	ND5	
NdhG	NdhG	NuoJ	ND6	
NdhH	NdhH	NuoD	49K	
NdhI	NdhI	NuoI	TYKK	2x[4Fe-4S]
NdhJ	NdhJ	NuoC	30K	[4Fe-4S]
NdhK	NdhK	NuoB	PSST	
CRR23	NdhL			
NdhM (At4g37925)*	NdhM (slr1623)*			
NdhN (At5g58260)*	NdhN (sll1262)*			
NdhO (At1g74880)*	NdhO (ssl1690)*			
		NuoE	24K	[2Fe-2S]
		NuoF	51K	NADH binding, FMN; [4Fe-4S]
		NuoG	75K	[2Fe-2S]; 3x[4Fe-4S]
	CupA			
	CupB			
	SII1735			

Information for *E. coli* and bovine complex I is based on Yagi and Matsuo-Yagi (2003). The subunits encoded by the plastid genome are indicated by green. *The confusion of gene names suggested by Ogawa and Mi (2007) has been corrected between two organisms in Rumeau *et al.* (2006).

of 14 subunits (Friedrich and Weiss 1997; Yagi and Matsuo-Yagi 2003). Comparison of the subunit composition reveals that it is clear that the plastid genome does not encode the orthologs of NuoE, NuoF and NuoG (**Table 1**). Complete determination of the Arabidopsis nuclear genome did not clarify the genes encoding missing subunits even in the nuclear genome. Consistently with this fact, genes encoding homologs of NuoE, NuoF, and NuoG were not discovered in the cyanobacterial genomes. These three subunits are involved in binding to electron donors (NADH in *E. coli*), and thus the chloroplast NDH complex and also the cyanobacterial NDH complex still lack the electron donor-binding module in our model (**Fig. 4**). Thus, we cannot conclude that NDH is really NAD(P)H dehydrogenase in the chloroplast (see below).

The three-dimensional structure of NADH dehydroge-



Fig. 4 Schematic model of the subunit structure of the chloroplast NDH complex. NdhA is purified with the hydrophilic arm, although it is a component of the membrane-embedded arm (Rumeau *et al.* 2005). By analogy with the cyanobacterial NDH complex, NdhD and NdhF are considered to associate peripherally to the other subunits in the thylakoid membranes (Zhang *et al.* 2004, 2005). The electron donor-binging module is still unclear.

nase has not been determined in any organisms so far. However, electron microscopic analysis has indicated that NADH dehydrogenase isolated from mitochondria of Neurospora crassa (Guenebaut et al. 1997) and Arabidopsis (Dudkina et al. 2005) has an L-shaped structure. Recently, the same technique was applied to the NDH complex of cyanobacterium Thermosynechococcus elongatus (Arteni et al. 2006). It is also L-shaped with a relatively short hydrophilic arm. There are variations in the length of the membrane-embedded arm, probably corresponding to the NDH-1L and NDH-1M complexes. In a small population, the hydrophilic arm has a longer extension, as in the E. coli NDH-1 complex, suggesting that the cyanobacterial NDH complex also has an electron donor-binding module corresponding to NuoE, NuoF, and NuoG. Interestingly, some complexes contain an additional hydrophilic arm on the membrane-embedded arm, forming a U-shape rather than an L-shape (Arteni et al. 2006). Topology analysis of the chloroplast NDH complex revealed that the hydrophobic arm extrudes to the stromal side; this is consistent with its predicted physiological function (Casano et al. 2004).

By analogy with the cyanobacterial NDH complex, the membrane-embedded arm is considered to consist of at least 7 subunits, NdhA-G. An additional subunit of NdhL was discovered because its mutant phenotype required high CO_2 levels for growth (Ogawa 1992), and it was recently rediscovered by a proteomics approach (Battchikova et al. 2004). We also identified its Arabidopsis ortholog from the crr23 mutants defective in NDH activity (Shimizu and Shikanai unpublished). In Arabidopsis, CRR3, which was also isolated from our crr mutant pool, is essential for stabilizing the NDH complex (Muraoka et al. 2006). Other subunits of NDH are also required to stabilize CRR3, suggesting that CRR3 is a subunit of the chloroplast NDH complex. Although the conclusion should await biochemical confirmation, CRR3 may interact with other Ndh subunits in the thylakoid membranes, since CRR3 contains one trans-membrane domain (Muraoka et al. 2006). In contrast to other NDH subunits in chloroplasts, the gene encoding the CRR3 homolog has not beed discovered in cyanobacterial genomes, indicating that CRR3 is specific to the chloroplast NDH complex.

Four plastid-encoded subunits, NdhH-K, are considered to form a hydrophilic arm. To identify the missing subunits involved in electron donor binding, NdhH was His-tagged by using plastid transformation and the NDH subcomplex containing NdhH was purified through Ni²⁺ affinity chromatography (Rumeau *et al.* 2005). NdhH was co-purified

with the other hydrophilic subunits (NdhI, NdhJ and NdhK), as well as with one membrane-embedded subunit NdhA. This subcomplex also contains three new subunits, NdhM, NdhN, and NdhO, which are encoded in the nuclear genome in higher plants. NdhH does not accumulate in Arabidopsis mutants defective in ndhM, ndhN, and ndhO, and NdhN and NdhO were also unstable in the tobacco ndhB knockout line (Rumeau et al. 2005). From these results, it is clear that three proteins are subunits of the chloroplast NDH complex. These proteins do not contain any known motifs suggesting their electron donor binding. Homologs of NdhM, NdhN, and NdhO were also discovered in cyanobacteria and are components of both NDH-1L and NDH-1M complexes (Prommeenate et al. 2004; Zhang et al. 2004). If we take all of this information together, we can see that it is likely that the hydrophilic arm, which still lacks the electron donor-binding module in the current model, consists of 7 subunits of NdhH-K encoded by the plastid genome and NdhM-O by the nuclear genome (Fig. 4).

CRR7 was discovered in the Arabidopsis mutant, *crr7*, and it is a candidate for the new subunit of the chloroplast NDH complex (Munshi *et al.* 2005). CRR7 is a hydrophilic protein and is likely to be a component of the hydrophilic arm. Although *CRR7* is conserved in cyanobacterial genomes, it was not discovered in the cyanobacterial NDH complex by a proteomics approach (Zhang *et al.* 2004). CRR7 may be too small (10 kDa) to be detected in the two-dimensional gel. It is also possible that CRR7 is a subunit of the electron donor-binding module, which can be easily dissociated from the NDH-1L or NDH-1M complexes.

CRR6 is also essential for stabilizing the chloroplast NDH complex and was discovered in the Arabidopsis mutant (Munshi et al. 2006). CRR6 is conserved in the cyanobacterial genomes but not in Chlamydomonas in which chloroplast NDH is probably absent. Although CRR6 is a soluble protein, it localizes to the thylakoid membranes, suggesting that CRR6 is anchored to an unknown membrane protein. In contrast to CRR3 and CRR7, CRR6 stably accumulates in crr2. Because crr2 is defective in the expression of *ndhB*, almost all the Ndh subunits are likely to be unstable in this mutant, as in the cyanobacterial M55 (Hashimoto et al. 2003). Although this result does not suggest that CRR6 is a subunit of the NDH complex, we cannot eliminate this possibility. The NDH-1S complexes are stable in the absence of the NDH-1M complex, and CRR6 may peripherally associate with the NDH complex in chloroplasts.

The NDH complex consists of at least 15 subunits in chloroplasts and cyanobacteria. Knockout of one subunit gene generally destabilizes the entire complex. However, the impact of knockout on the complex stability is often specific to each subunit, a fact that is informative in presuming the subunit structure of the complex. Although the cyanobacterial NDH-1M complex is stable in the absence of the NdhD subunit, NdhD is essential for stabilizing the NDH complex in chloroplasts (Kotera et al. 2005). This fact suggests that the structure of the NDH complex is somewhat different between chloroplasts and cyanobacteria, despite the high similarity. Although the Ndh-1M complex is an intermediate for both NDH-1MS and NDH-1L complexes in cyanobacteria (Zhang et al. 2005), it is unlikely that chloroplast NDH has this plasticity of subunit structure.

Distinct stability is also observed in members of the NdhD and NdhF family. Even in the absence of NdhB, NdhD3 accumulates in the thylakoid membranes in M55, indicating that the NDH- $1S_1$ complex is stable in the absence of the NDH-M complex (Zhang *et al.* 2004). In contrast, NdhF1, which is a component of NDH-1L complex, is unstable in M55.

ELECTRON DONOR TO THE NDH COMPLEX

The chloroplast NDH complex is structurally similar to the bacterial NDH-1 and is likely to be NAD(P)H dehydroge-

nase. However, this idea has not been supported by any solid experimental evidence. Lack of information on the electron donor-binding subunits makes this suspicion more serious. The most straightforward strategy for clarifying the electron donor is characterization of the purified enzyme. However, because of its fragile nature in vitro, purification of the enzyme has not been technically simple. The complex purified from pea chloroplasts has a molecular mass of approximately 550 kDa and consists of at least 16 subunits (Sazanov et al. 1998). This purified enzyme prefers NADH as an electron donor. This result is consistent with the fact that the hydrophilic arm containing NdhA has NADH-oxidizing activity (Rumeau et al. 2005). However, this subcomplex is unlikely to contain the electron donor-binding module, and it is unclear whether it reflects activity of the NDH complex in vivo. In contrast to the results in chloroplasts, NDH purified from cyanobacteria prefers NADPH rather than NADH (Matsuo et al. 1998). This story is more complex, since PQ reduction depending on chloroplast NDH requires Fd as well as NADPH in ruptured chloroplasts (Endo *et al.* 1997; Munekage *et al.* 2004). Binding of FNR (Fd-NADP⁺ oxidoreductase) to the chloroplast NDH complex has also been suggested (Guedeney et al. 1996). In conclusion, it is essential to identify the electron donor-binding subunits and purify the complex that includes them.

REGULATION OF ELECTRON TRANSPORT VIA CHLOROPLAST GENE EXPRESSION

The NDH complex alleviates the oxidative stress in chloroplasts. Given that this is true, the accumulation of the chloroplast NDH complex would be regulated to respond to the environmental stresses. In barley (Hordeum vulgare), high light intensity at low temperatures photoinactivates PSI and induces a marked increase in the level of the chloroplast NDH complex (Teicher et al. 2000). This response is accompanied by alteration of chloroplast gene expression and is possibly regulated via H₂O₂-mediated signaling by oxidative stresses (Casano et al. 2001). In addition to elevated gene expression, the chloroplast NDH is also activated via phosphorylation of the NdhF subunit (Lascano et al. 2003). It is essential to assess whether these stress responses of the chloroplast NDH complex are specific to barley or general to higher plants. At least the level of NDH complex is not altered under the pgr5 background in Arabidopsis, in which PSI is sensitive to high light intensity (unpublished data). If gene expression is generally regulated by oxidative stress, then it would be interesting to use Arabidopsis, in which the regulatory machinery of chloroplast gene expression is becoming clearer, to study the regulation of chloroplast gene expression in response to an environmental cue.

Plastid gene expression is transcriptionally regulated during chloroplast development by conversion of the transcriptional machinery from the nucleus-encoded phage-type RNA polymerase (Hedtke et al. 1997) to the plastid-encoded bacterial-type RNA polymerase (Mullet 1988). The promoter specificity of the plastid-encoded polymerase is determined by nucleus-encoded sigma factors (Kanamaru and Tanaka 2004; Shiina et al. 2005). Knockout of SIG4, one of six sigma factors encoded by the Arabidopsis genome, specifically impairs transcription of the chloroplast ndhF gene (Favory et al. 2005). If the ndhF transcription were rate-limiting for accumulation of the NDH complex, SIG4 would be involved in regulation of the NDH level. It is also possible that environmental stimuli may activate several regulatory processes of *ndh* gene expression and that SIG4 is part of this mechanism.

In addition to ndhF, 10 chloroplast genes and at least three nuclear genes encode the subunits of the NDH complex (Matsubayashi *et al.* 1987; Rumeau *et al.* 2005). If regulatory accumulation of the chloroplast NDH complex were true, expression of all the genes would have to be coordinately regulated to respond to fluctuating environments. Arabidopsis mutants specifically defective in the expression of chloroplast *ndh* genes were also identified as having the crr phenotype. RNA editing is a process of altering the genetic information from that encoded by the genome at the RNA level (Shikanai 2006). In ndhD encoding a subunit of the NDH complex, the translational initiation codon is encoded by ACG in the genome and is edited to AUG by RNA editing in Arabidopsis. An Arabidopsis mutant, crr4, is specifically defective in this RNA editing (Kotera et al. 2005). CRR4 is a member of the PPR (pentatricopeptide repeat) family, which contains approximately 450 members in Arabidopsis (Lurin et al. 2004). PPR proteins are believed to be involved in the steps of maturation of chloroplast or mitochondrial RNA. CRR4 is an RNA-binding protein that specifies the site of RNA editing (Okuda et al. 2006). Interestingly, the RNA editing at this site is developmentally regulated, and the extent of the editing is roughly proportional to the expression level of *ndhD* in tobacco (Hirose and Sugiura 1997). Although the story looks plausible, there is no experimental evidence to support the physiological significance of the regulation. In monocots, the site is encoded by ATG in the genome, implying that regulation via RNA editing is dispensable. Once the molecular mechanism of the ndh gene expression becomes clear, this possibility of regulation via RNA editing should be re-evaluated.

An additional two PPR protein genes have been identified in the screening of crr mutants (Hashimoto et al. 2003). PGR3 is involved in RNA stabilization and the translation of at least two distinct target RNAs (Yamazaki et al. 2004). Although CRR3 is also involved in accumulation of the cyt $b_6 f$ complex, the pgr3-3 allele was isolated on the basis of its rather specific defect in the NDH complex. Despite the drastic difference in accumulation level, expression of the cyt $b_6 f$ complex and the NDH complex is regulated by a single factor, PGR3. Another PPR protein, CRR2, recognizes a unique target of the intergenic region between rps7 and ndhB and is essential for RNA cleavage at this site (Hashimoto et al. 2003). Since this RNA cleavage is likely to be essential for *ndhB* translation, CRR2 may be involved in the regulation of *ndhB* translation. In the chloroplast, an intergenic RNA cleavage often balances the translational efficiency of the intervening two genes. ndhD is co-transcribed with an upstream gene, psaC, encoding a subunit of PSI. The accumulation level of PSI is much higher than that of the NDH complex (approximately 100 times), thus requiring regulation of translation. In most precursor RNA, RNA cleavage between *psaC* and *ndhD* takes place to disrupt the *ndhD* coding region, resulting in repression of ndhD translation (del Campo et al. 2002). An intact ndhD mRNA is less frequently generated via the RNA cleavage that occurs in the intergenic region, and the resulting monocistronic ndhD mRNA is also regulated via RNA editing for translation (Hirose and Sugiura 1997).

We did not identify any nuclear transcriptional factors in the *crr* mutant pool. Since at least four genes, *ndhL-O*, encode the Ndh subunits in the nuclear genome, it is plausible that some transcriptional factors are specifically involved in the *ndh* gene expression to respond to environmental signals. Because our strategy of map-based cloning focused on genes encoding plastid-targeting proteins, we may have eliminated transcriptional factors in the nuclei. The machinery of plastid gene expression may be also under the control of transcriptional factors. The 11 chloroplast *ndh* genes may be good targets for clarifying the network that coordinately regulates the expression of nucleusand plastid-encoded genes.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Despite progress in our knowledge of the chloroplast NDH complex, several fundamental questions remain. Priority should be given to the identification of electron donor-binding subunits and the electron donor itself. We have discussed the physiological function of the enzyme, but we are still not sure of the reaction mediated by the enzyme. On the basis of recent advances in molecular genetics and proteomics, it seems unlikely that it will take long to get an answer. This review will hopefully be rewritten soon under a new concept. PSI cyclic electron transport is one of the last enigmas remaining in the field of research on photosynthesis, but this statement is becoming less true for some topics.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was supported by a grant-in-aid for Scientific Research on Priority Areas (16085296) and for Creative Scientific Research (17GS0316) from the Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology, Japan.

REFERENCES

- Allen JF (2002) Photosynthesis of ATP-electrons, proton pumps, rotors, and poise. Cell 110, 273-276
- Arteni AA, Zhang P, Battchikova N, Ogawa T, Aro E-M, Boekema EJ (2006) Structural characterization of NDH-1 complexes of *Thermosynechococcus elongatus* by single particle electron microscopy. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 1757, 1469-1475
- Barth C, Krause GH (2002) Study of tobacco transformants to assess the role of chloroplastic NAD(P)H dehydrogenase in photoprotection of photosystems I and II. *Planta* 216, 273-279
- Battchikova N, Zhang P, Rudd S, Ogawa T, Aro E-M (2004) Identification of NdhL and Ssl1690 (NdhO) in NDH-1L and NDH-1M complexes of Synechocystis sp. PCC 6803. The Journal of Biological Chemistry 280, 2587-2595
- Bendall DS, Manasse RS (1995) Cyclic photophosphorylation and electron transport. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 1229, 23-38
- Bennoun P (1982) Evidence for a respiratory chain in the chloroplast. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 79, 4352-4356
- Burrows PA, Sazanov LA, Svab Z, Maliga P, Nixon PJ (1998) Identification of a functional respiratory complex in chloroplasts through analysis of tobacco mutants containing disrupted plastid *ndh* genes. *The EMBO Journal* 17, 868-876
- Carol P, Stevenson D, Bisanz C, Breitenbach J, Sandmann G, Mache R, Coupland G, Kuntz M (1999) Mutations in the Arabidopsis gene *IMMUTANS* cause a variegated phenotype by inactivating a chloroplast terminal oxidase associated with phytoene desaturation. *The Plant Cell* 11, 57-68
- Casano LM, Martin M, Sabater B (2001) Hydrogen peroxide mediates the induction of chloroplastic Ndh complex under photooxidative stress in barley. *Plant Physiology* 125, 1450-1458
- Casano LM, Lascano HR, Martin M, Sabater B (2004) Topology of the plastid Ndh complex and its NDH-F subunit in thylakoid membranes. *The Biochemical Journal* 382, 145-155
- del Campo EM, Sabater B, Martin M (2002) Post-transcriptional control of chloroplast gene expression. Accumulation of stable *psaC* mRNA is due to downstream RNA cleavages in the *ndhD* gene. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 277, 36457-36464
- Dudkina NV, Eubel H, Keegstra W, Boekema EJ, Braun HP (2005) Structure of a mitochondrial supercomplex formed by respiratory-chain complexes I and III. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 102, 3225-3229
- Endo T, Mi H, Shikanai T, Asada K (1997) Donation of electrons to plastoquinone by NAD(P)H dehydrogenase and by ferredoxin-quinone reductase in spinach chloroplasts. *Plant Cell Physiology* 38, 1272-1277
- Endo T, Shikanai T, Takabayashi A, Asada K, Sato F (1999) The role of chloroplastic NAD(P)H dehydrogenase in photoprotection. *FEBS Letters* **457**, 5-8
- Endo T, Kawase D, Sato F (2005) Stromal over-reduction by high-light stress as measured by decreases in P700 oxidation by far-red light and its physiological relevance. *Plant Cell Physiology* 46, 775-781
- Favory JJ, Kobayshi M, Tanaka K, Peltier G, Kreis M, Valay JG, Lerbs-Mache S (2005) Specific function of a plastid sigma factor for *ndhF* gene transcription. *Nucleic Acids Research* **33**, 5991-5999
- Friedlich T, Weiss H (1997) Modular evolution of the respiratory NADH:ubiquinone oxidoreductase and the origin of its modules. *Journal of Theoretical Biology* 187, 529-540
- Garab G, Lajko F, Mustardy L, Marton L (1989) Respiratory control over photosynthetic electron transport in chloroplasts of higher plant cells. Evidence for chlororespiration. *Planta* 179, 349-358
- Guedeney G, Corneille S, Cuine S, Peltier G (1996) Evidence for an association of *ndh B*, *ndh J* gene products and ferredoxin-NADP-reductase as components of a chloroplastic NAD(P)H dehydrogenase complex. *FEBS Letters* 378, 277-280
- Guenebaut V, Vincentelli R, Mills D, Weiss H, Leonard KR (1997) Threedimensional structure of NADH-dehydrogenase from *Neurospora crassa* by electron microscopy and conical tilt reconstitution. *Journal of Molecular Biology* 265, 409-418
- Hashimoto M, Endo T, Peltier G, Tasaka M, Shikanai T (2003) A nucleus-encoded factor, CRR2, is essential for the expression of chloroplast *ndhB* in

Arabidopsis. The Plant Journal 36, 541-549

- Heber U, Walker D (1992) Concerning a dual function of coupled cyclic electron transport in leaves. *Plant Physiology* 100, 1621-1626
- Hedtke B, Börner T, Weihe A (1997) Mitochondrial and chloroplast phagetype RNA polymerases in *Arabidopsis. Science* 277, 809-811
- Hirose T, Sugiura M (1997) Both RNA editing and RNA cleavage are required for translation of tobacco chloroplast *ndhD* mRNA: a possible regulatory mechanism for the expression of a chloroplast operon consisting of functionally unrelated genes. *The EMBO Journal* 16, 6804-6811
- Horváth EM, Peter SO, Joët T, Rumeau D, Cournac L, Horváth GV, Kavanagh TA, Schafer C, Peltier G, Medgyesy P (2000) Targeted inactivation of the plastid *ndhB* gene in tobacco results in an enhanced sensitivity of photosynthesis to moderate stomatal closure. *Plant Physiology* **123**, 1337-1350
- Jöet T, Cournac L, Horváth EM, Medgyesy P, Peltier G (2001) Increased sensitivity of photosynthesis to antimycin A induced by inactivation of the chloroplast *ndhB* gene. Evidence for a participation of the NADH-dehydrogenase complex to cyclic electron flow around photosystem I. *Plant Physiol*ogy 125, 1919-1929
- Joët T, Genty B, Josse EM, Kuntz M, Cournac L, Peltier G (2002) Involvement of a plastid terminal oxidase in plastoquinone oxidation as evidenced by expression of the *Arabidopsis thaliana* enzyme in tobacco. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 277, 31623-31630
- Josse EM, Simkin AJ, Gaffe J, Laboure AM, Kuntz M, Carol P (2000) A plastid terminal oxidase associated with carotenoid desaturation during chromoplast differentiation. *Plant Physiology* 123, 1427-1436
- Kanamaru K, Tanaka K (2004) Roles of chloroplast RNA polymerase sigma factors in chloroplast development and stress response in higher plants. *Bio*science, Biotechnology and Biochemistry 68, 2215-2223
- Kofer W, Koop HU, Wanner G, Steinmüller K (1998) Mutagenesis of the genes encoding subunits A, C, H, I, J and K of the plastid NAD(P)H-plastoquinone-oxidoreductase in tobacco by polyethylene glycol-mediated plastome transformation. *Molecular Genomics and Genetics* 258, 166-173
- Kotera E, Tasaka M, Shikanai T (2005) A pentatricopetide repeat protein is essential for RNA editing in chloroplasts. *Nature* 433, 326-330
- Kubicki A, Steinmüller K, Westhoff P (1996) Differential expression of plastome-encoded *ndh* genes in mesophyll and bundle-sheath chloroplasts of the C₄ plant *Sorghum bicolor* indicates that the complex I-homologous NAD(P)H-plastoquinone oxidoreductase is involved in cyclic electron transport. *Planta* 199, 276-281
- Lascano HR, Casano LM, Martín M, Sabater B (2003) The Activity of the chloroplastic Ndh complex is regulated by phosphorylation of the NDH-F subunit. *Plant Physiology* 132, 256-262
- Li X-P, Björkman O, Shih C, Grossman AR, Rosenquist M, Jansson S, Niyogi KK (2000) A pigment-binding protein essential for regulation of photosynthetic light harvesting. *Nature* 403, 391-395
- Li XG, Duan W, Meng QW, Zou Q, Zhao SJ (2004) The function of chloroplastic NAD(P)H dehydrogenase in tobacco during chilling stress under low irradiance. *Plant Cell Physiology* 45, 103-108
- Lurin C, Andrés C, Aubourg S, Bellaoui M, Bitton F, Bruyere C, Caboche M, Debast C, Gualberto J, Hoffmann B, Lecharny A, Le Ret M, Martin-Magniette ML, Mireau H, Peeters N, Renou JP, Szurek B, Taconnat L, Small I (2004) Genome-wide analysis of Arabidopsis pentatricopeptide repeat proteins reveals their essential role in organelle biogenesis. *The Plant Cell* 16, 2089-2103
- Maeda S, Badger MR, Price GD (2002) Novel gene products associated with NdhD3/D4-containing NDH-1 complexes are involved in photosynthetic CO₂ hydration in the cyanobacterium, *Synechococcus* sp. PCC7942. *Molecular Microbiology* **43**, 425-435
- Matsubayashi T, Wakasugi T, Shinozaki K, Yamaguchi-Shinozaki K, Zaita N, Hidaka T, Meng BY, Ohto C, Tanaka M, Kato A, Maruyama T, Sugiura M (1987) Six chloroplast genes (*ndhA-F*) homologous to human mitochondrial genes encoding components of the respiratory chain NADH dehydrogenase are actively expressed: determination of the splice sites in *ndhA* and *ndhB* pre-mRNAs. *Molecular Genomics and Genetics* 210, 385-393
- Matsuo M, Endo T, Asada K (1998) Isolation of a novel NAD(P)H-quinone oxidoreductase from the cyanobacterium *Synechocystis* PCC6803. *Plant Cell Physiology* 39, 751-755
- Mi H, Endo T, Schreiber U, Ogawa T, Asada K (1992) Electron donation from cyclic and respiratory flows to the photosynthetic intersystem chain is mediated by pyridine nucleotide dehydrogenase in the cyanobacterium *Synochocystis* PCC6803. *Plant Cell Physiology* 33, 1233-1237
- Mi HL, Endo T, Schreiber U, Ogawa T, Asada K (1994) NAD(P)H-dehydrogenase-dependent cyclic electron flow around photosystem-I in the cyanobacterium Synochocystis – a study of dark-starved cells and spheroplasts. *Plant Cell Physiology* 35, 163-173
- Mi H, Endo T, Ogawa T, Asada K (1995) Thylakoid membrane-bound pyridine nucleotide dehydrogenase complex mediates cyclic electron transport in the cyanobacteria *Synechocystis* PCC 6803. *Plant Cell Physiology* 36, 661-668
- Müller P, Li X-P, Niyogi KK (2001) Non-photochemical quenching. A response to excess light energy. *Plant Physiology* 125, 1558-1566
- Mullet JE (1988) Chloroplast development and gene expression. Annual Review Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology 39, 475-502

- Munekage Y, Shikanai T (2005) Cyclic electron transport though photosystem I. *Plant Biotechnology* **22**, 361-369
- Munekage Y, Hojo M, Meurer J, Endo T, Tasaka M, Shikanai T (2002) PGR5 is involved in cyclic electron flow around photosystem I and is essential for photoprotection in Arabidopsis. Cell 110, 361-371
- Munekage Y, Hashimoto M, Miyake C, Tomizawa K, Endo T, Tasaka M, Shikanai T (2004) Cyclic electron flow around photosystem I is essential for photosynthesis. *Nature* 429, 579-582
- Munné-Bosch S, Shikanai T, Asada K (2005) Enhanced ferredoxin-dependent cyclic electron flow around photosystem I and α-tocopherol quinone accumulation in water-stressed *ndhB*-inactivated tobacco mutants. *Planta* 222, 502-511
- Munshi MK, Kobayashi Y, Shikanai T (2005) Identification of a novel protein CRR7 required for the stabilization of the chloroplast NAD(P)H dehydrogenase complex in Arabidopsis. The Plant Journal 44, 1036-1044
- Munshi MK, Kobayashi Y, Shikanai T (2006) CRR6 is a novel factor required for accumulation of the chloroplast NAD(P)H dehydrogenase complex in Arabidopsis. *Plant Physiology* 141, 737-744
- Muraoka R, Okuda K, Kobayashi Y, Shikanai T (2006) A eukaryotic factor required for accumulation of the chloroplast NAD(P)H dehydrogenase complex in Arabidopsis. *Plant Physiology* 142, 1683-1689
- Mus F, Cournac L, Cardettini V, Caruana A, Peltier G (2005) Inhibitor studies on non-photochemical plastoquinone reduction and H₂ photoproduction in *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 1413, 117-129
- **Ogawa T** (1991) A gene homologous to the subunit-2 gene of NADH dehydrogenase is essential to inorganic carbon transport of *Synechocystis* PCC6803. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* **88**, 4275-4279
- Ogawa T (1992) Identification and characterization of the *ictA/ndhL* gene product essential to inorganic carbon transport of *Synechocystis* PCC6803. *Plant Physiology* 99, 1604-1608
- Ogawa T, Mi H-L (2007) Cyanobacterial NADPH dehydrogenase complexes. *Photosynthesis Research*, in press
- Okegawa Y, Tsuyama M, Kobayashi Y, Shikanai T (2005) The pgr1 mutation in the Rieske subunit of the cytochrome b_{of} complex does not affect PGR5dependent cyclic electron transport around photosystem I. The Journal of Biological Chemistry 280, 28332-28336
- Okuda K, Nakamura T, Sugita M, Shimizu T, Shikanai T (2006) A pentatricopeptide repeat protein is a site-recognition factor in chloroplast RNA editing. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 281, 37661-37667
- Ohkawa H, Pakrasi HB, Ogawa T (2000) Two types of functionally distinct NAD(P)H dehydrogenases in *Synechocystis* sp. strain PCC6803. *The Journal* of *Biological Chemistry* 275, 31630-31634
- Peltier G, Cournac L (2002) Chlororespiration. Annual Review of Plant Biology 53, 523-550
- Prommeenate P, Lennon AM, Markert C, Hippler M, Nixon PJ (2004) Subunit composition of NDH-1 complexes of *Synechocystis* sp. PCC 6803: identification of two new *ndh* gene products with nuclear-encoded homologues in the chloroplast Ndh complex. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 279, 28165-28173
- Rumeau D, Bécuwe-Linka N, Beyly A, Louwagie M, Garin J, Peltier G (2005) New Subunits NDH-M, -N, and -O, encoded by nuclear genes, are essential for plastid Ndh complex functioning in higher plants. *The Plant Cell* 17, 219-232
- Rosso D, Ivanov AG, Fu A, Geisler-Lee J, Hendrickson L, Geisler M, Stewart G, Krol M, Hurry V, Rodermel SR, Maxwell DP, Hüner NPA (2006) IMMUTANS does not act as a stress-induced safety valve in the protection of the photosynthetic apparatus of Arabidopsis during steady-state photosynthesis. *Plant Physiology* 142, 574-585
- Sazanov LA, Burrows PA, Nixon PJ (1998) The plastid ndh genes code for an NADH-specific dehydrogenase: isolation of a complex I analogue from pea thylakoid membranes. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 95, 1319-1324
- Shibata M, Ohkawa H, Kaneko T, Fukuzawa H, Tabata S, Kaplan A, Ogawa T (2001) Distinct constitutive and low-CO₂-induced CO₂ uptake systems in cyanobacteria: genes involved and their phylogenetic relationship with homologous genes in other organisms. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 98, 11789-11794
- Shiina T, Tsunoyama Y, Nakahira Y, Khan MS (2005) Plastid RNA polymerases, promoters, and transcription regulators in higher plants. *International Review of Cytology* 244, 1-68
- Shikanai T (2006) RNA editing in plant organelles: machinery, physiological function and evolution. *Cellular and Molecular Life Science* **63**, 698-708
- Shikanai T (2007) Cyclic electron transport around photosystem I: genetic approaches. Annual Review of Plant Biology 58, 199-217
- Shikanai T, Endo T (2000) Physiological function of a respiratory complex, NAD(P)H dehydrogenase in chloroplasts: Dissection by chloroplast reverse genetics. *Plant Biotechnology* 17, 79-86
- Shikanai T, Endo T, Hashimoto T, Yamada Y, Asada K, Yokota A (1998) Directed disruption of the tobacco *ndhB* gene impairs cyclic electron flow around photosystem I. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* 95, 9705-9709
- Shikanai T, Munekage Y, Shimizu K, Endo T, Hashimoto T (1999) Identification and characterization of *Arabidopsis* mutants with reduced quenching

of chlorophyll fluorescence. Plant Cell Physiology 40, 1134-1142

- Svab Z, Maliga P (1993) High-frequency plastid transformation in tobacco by selection for a chimeric aadA gene. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 90, 913-917
- Takabayashi A, Kishine M, Asada K, Endo T, Sato F (2006) Differential use of two cyclic electron flows around photosystem I for driving CO₂-concentration mechanism in C₄ photosynthesis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* **102**, 16898-16903
- Teicher BH, Moller LB, Vibe Scheller H (2000) Photoinhibition of photosystem I in field-grown barley (*Hordeum vulgare* L.): Induction, recovery and acclimation. *Photosynthesis Research* 64, 53-61
- Umbach AL, Fiorani F, Siedow JN (2005) Characterization of transformed Arabidopsis with altered alternative oxidase levels and analysis of effects on reactive oxygen species in tissue. *Plant Physiology* **139**, 1806-1820
- Wakasugi T, Tsudzuki J, Ito S, Nakashima K, Tsudzuki T, Sugiura M (1994) Loss of all *ndh* genes as determined by sequencing the entire chloroplast genome of the black pine *Pinus thunbergii*. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* **91**, 9794-9798
- Wang P, Duan W, Takabayashi A, Endo T, Shikanai T, Ye JY, Mi H (2006) Chloroplastic NAD(P)H dehydrogenase in tobacco leaves functions in alleviation of oxidative damage caused by temperature stress. *Plant Physiology* 141, 465-474

- Wu D, Wright DA, Wetzel C, Voytas DF, Rodermel S (1999) The IMMUTANS variegation locus of Arabidopsis defines a mitochondrial alternative oxidase homolog that functions during early chloroplast biogenesis. The Plant Cell 11, 43-55
- Yagi T, Matsuno-Yagi A (2003) The proton-translocating NADH-quinone oxidoreductase in the respiratory chain: the secret unlocked. *Biochemistry* 42, 2266-2274
- Yamazaki H, Tasaka M, Shikanai T (2004) PPR motifs of the nucleus-encoded factor, PGR3, function in the selective and distinct steps of chloroplast gene expression in *Arabidopsis. The Plant Journal* 38, 152-163
- Yoshida K, Terashima I, Noguchi K (2006) Distinct roles of the cytochrome pathway and alternative oxidase in leaf photosynthesis. *Plant Cell Physiology* 47, 22-31
- Zhang P, Battchikova N, Jansen T, Appel J, Ogawa T, Aro E-M (2004) Expression and functional roles of the two distinct NDH-1 complexes and the carbon acquisition complex NdhD3/NdhF3/CupA/Sll1735 in *Synechocystis* sp PCC 6803. *The Plant Cell* **16**, 3326-3340
- Zhang P, Battchikova N, Paakkarinen V, Katoh H, Iwai M, ikeuchi M, Pakrashi HB, Ogawa T, Aro E-M (2005) Isolation, subunit composition and interaction of the NDH-1 complexes from *Thermosynechococcus elongatus* BP-1. *The Biochemical Journal* 390, 513-520